# Surgical aspects of live kidney donation

# Leonienke Francisca Dols<sup>1</sup>, Niels Frederik Kok<sup>1</sup>, Jan Nicolaas IJzermans<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Surgery, Erasmus MC, Gravendijkwal 230, PO Box 2040, 3000 CA, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

- 3. Benefits of live kidney donor transplantation
- 4. Innovations in live kidney donation
- 5. Care of the live donor
  - 5.1. Standard care of the live donor
  - 5.2. Improvements in imaging of the donor
  - 5.3. Improvements in surgical technique
    - *5.3.1. Laparoscopic donor nephrectomy*
    - 5.3.2. Hand-assisted laparoscopic donor nephrectomy
    - 5.3.3. Retroperitoneoscopic donor nephrectomy
    - 5.3.4. Minimally invasive open donor nephrectomy
    - 5.3.5. Evidence-based approach in the surgical management
  - 5.4. Improvements in perioperative care
  - 5.5. Improvements in follow-up
- 6. Conclusion and future perspectives
- 7. Acknowledgements

8. References

# 1. ABSTRACT

In the early 1990s live kidney donation regained popularity to meet the demand of kidney transplantation. Significant developments in the field of live kidney donation have established live donation as the potential prime source of kidney transplants in the future. Nowadays management focuses on logistic and immunological innovations, and improvements in care of the live donor. However, a flawless surgical procedure in donors and recipients is a prerequisite for further expansion of live kidney donor transplantation. From a surgical perspective the introduction of the laparoscopic approach has been a major breakthrough. Less invasive techniques to procure live donor kidneys have been held responsible for a steep increase in the number of live donors. In addition, less invasive imaging, improvements in perioperative care, and novel insights in follow-up have all improved the care of the live donor. Live kidney donation may develop as the most promising source of renal organs since artificial kidneys, xenografts and stem cell therapy for restoring intrinsic kidney function will probably not find application on large scale in the near future.

### 2. INTRODUCTION

The kidney is an essential organ, which plays a pivotal role in acid/base balance, sodium/potassium balance, calcium metabolism, regulation of blood pressure, red blood cell synthesis and excretion of metabolites. A variety of renal diseases finally results in renal insufficiency.

Kidney replacement therapy consists of dialysis and kidney transplantation. Hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis can lead to long-term survival and may bridge patients to kidney transplantation. However, the impact of dialysis on quality of life is enormous. Kidney transplantation is considered the optimal kidney replacement therapy for many patients with end-stage renal disease (1, 2).

In the early 1950s, Rene Kuss and Joseph Murray performed the first successful kidney transplantations in France and the United States respectively (3, 4). The discovery of adequate immunosuppressive therapy in the 1960s enabled deceased donor kidney transplantation, preventing risky operations performed on healthy individuals. As enough deceased donors were present at that time, live kidney donor transplantation was pushed into the background.

In the late 1980s and 1990s, a discrepancy between organ demand and supply occurred because of an increasing number of patients suffering from endstage renal disease and a stagnating number of transplants. The average waiting time for a kidney from a deceased donor increased considerably. Mainly because of mortality and worsening condition precluded transplantation. Annually, up to twenty percent is removed from the waiting list. Increasing the number of deceased donors has failed mainly due to relatives refusing donation (5). This prompted a new interest in live donor kidney transplantation amongst other alternatives.

In the last decade, the number of transplants from live donors significantly increased in the Western World (6). The revival of live kidney donation is a result of the aforementioned gap between the demand and supply of organs. Live kidney donor transplantation has created opportunities including preemptive and ABO-incompatible kidney transplantation that contribute to the success of live kidney donation. The expansion of live kidney donation is only possible by continuous innovations and research in screening of the donor, perioperative care and last but not least the discomfort to the donor and incited live donation. In this review we will focus on current surgical issues surrounding live kidney donation.

# 3. BENEFITS OF LIVE KIDNEY DONOR TRANSPLANTATION

Live kidney donor transplantation renders some significant benefits over kidney transplantation from a deceased donor. First, the transplant usually functioning immediately following starts transplantation, as opposed to transplants derived from deceased donors. Ischemic damage to the allograft is minimal due to short ischemic time. This is important, as cold ischemic time is a well-known risk factor for delayed graft function (7). Second, transplant survival is significantly improved. Three-year survival rates are approximately 81 to 87 percent for living unrelated donors and 70 percent for cadaveric kidneys (8-10).Third, dialysis may be avoided by planning live donor kidney transplantation. This so-called preemptive kidney transplantation is gaining popularity. It reduces the costs of dialysis and the related operations needed to introduce a catheter or develop a shunt; furthermore such an approach may improve transplant function and survival (2). Current allocation guidelines impede pre-emptive kidney transplantation from a deceased donor. Fourth, live kidney donor transplantation turns emergent surgery into elective surgery and thereby improves surgical results without any doubt. Candidates for donation and transplantation can be carefully screened and the transplantation can be scheduled at a time when donor and recipient are well prepared for surgery. Finally, a higher degree of histoincompatibility may be accepted in live kidney donor transplantation because the grafts are derived from healthy donors and do not sustain significant

injury during the time awaiting explantation (11). Nevertheless, kidney transplantation is a surgical procedure with risks of mortality and morbidity

### 4. INNOVATIONS IN LIVE KIDNEY DONATION

Live kidney donation has been fostered by immunologic maneuvers that can overcome biologic obstacles such as HLA disparity and ABO or cross-match incompatibility. In the classic, successful live kidney donor transplantations of the 1950s, the transplant was derived from an HLA identical individual, often a twin. Despite the rapid developments in immunosuppressive therapy, most transplants were derived from relatives until the early 1990s.

Nowadays transplants derived from genetically unrelated donors appear to provide excellent function and long-term survival is comparable with the survival of a graft derived from related donors (11). Awareness of the success of grafts from unrelated donors resulted in a spectacular increase of unrelated donors, in particular from spouses (12).

Among the genetically unrelated donors, the percentage of those without a direct relation to the recipient increases, including those participating in cross-over transplant programs, list-exchange programs and Good Samaritan kidney donor programs. (13, 14).

Cross-over transplantations (donor-paired exchange) intend to help recipients accompanied by a donor with a different, incompatible, blood group. This pair is coupled to one or two other pairs having the same problem of blood group incompatibility. However, the blood group of the donor of the first pair and the recipient of the second or third pair matches. So, donor A donates to recipient B, donor B donates to recipient C and donor C may donate to recipient A. Although the logistics are demanding and a sufficient pool is necessary to create combinations between pairs, these cross-over transplant programs or pairwise donation may be highly successful (15).

List-exchange transplantation is relatively new. The live donor and the recipient have incompatible blood groups. The donor donates his kidney to a recipient waiting for an organ derived from a deceased donor. In exchange, the intended recipient, related to the live donor, receives priority on the deceased donor waitlist. List-exchange may be live saving, in particular for those recipients who do not find a compatible donor by a cross-over program or for whom transplantation across the blood group is not optional.

Good Samaritan kidney donors are also denoted as truly altruistic donors who do not have any relation to a recipient (14). The transplants of these donors are usually intended for recipients awaiting deceased donor transplantation.

An uncommon type of kidney donor is a patient whose kidney is removed for medical indication (i.e. iatrogenic ureteral lesions that could not be repaired, kidney stones). These donors/patients usually have another kidney that functions well and they do not require autotransplantation. Donation to the organ pool may be an option. Integration of all aforementioned practices would help to reduce the number of transplant candidates waiting. Recent calculations estimate that up to eleven percent of the transplanted kidneys may be recruited from this pool of formerly uncommon donors (16, 17).

Another innovative approach includes the transplantation of living donor renal allografts across blood group barriers (18, 19). This requires protocols to reduce and maintain anti-blood group antibodies at safe levels. Developments in immuno-absorption have resulted in good results for such transplantations (18).

# 5. CARE OF THE LIVE DONOR

### 5.1. Standard care of the live donor

The crucial aspect in live kidney donor transplantation is the potential harm to the donor. From an ethical perspective live kidney donation is only justified if the harm to the donor is limited and the potential benefit to the recipient is major. The risk for the immediate and long-term health adverse consequences to the donor is therefore very important. The Amsterdam Forum has established guidelines for the (relative) contra-indications to live kidney donation: donors must have sufficient renal function (GFR more than 80 ml/min), no hypertension (less than 140/90 mm Hg), no obesity (BMI less than 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), negative urine analysis for protein (less than 300mg/24 hours) and erythrocytes, no diabetes, stone disease, malignancy or urinary tract infections, a minor or no cardiovascular or pulmonary risk and smoking cessation and alcohol abstinence is obligatory (20).

A multidisciplinary approach is required to optimize quality of a live kidney donation program. Disciplines have to cooperate in the screening of donors and informing relatives without exerting pressure on potential donors. Each step in the multidisciplinary approach should be optimized. Imaging of the donor kidney should be performed without any complications and the surgical procedure, while peri-operative care should be optimally organized to minimize pain and discomfort to the donor. Advances in surgical technique have improved the comfort of the donor considerably and the risks of morbidity and mortality have been minimized. Adequate follow-up may identify donors who develop hypertension early and may also aid donors from a social perspective, for example, by advising those who struggle with their recovery or experience problems resuming work (21).

Together with the solution of more donor kidneys another problem arises. The ethical aspects concerning living unrelated transplantation are even more complicated than the medical ones due to concern of commercialization. Many people consider it unethical to pay kidney donors. In developing countries this can become a problem. People are more willingly towards donation if there is a financial reward. Some advocate for a reward for donors as renal replacement therapy is much more expensive. Others suggest that establishing controlled donor compensation programs could partly solve the shortage in organs (22-24).

### 5.2. Improvements in imaging of the donor

Imaging is of great importance in selecting donors. It determines the choice of the kidney to be donated. Donors with bilateral arterial stenosis, cysts, fibromuscular dysplasia or parenchymal tumors should be excluded from donation. To ensure sufficient renal function for the donor, the best-functioning kidney should be left to the donor. This requires techniques to rule out how both kidneys of the donor contribute to donor function. In addition to providing detailed information on the donor, radiological examinations should be safe, minimally invasive and the time for these investigations should be limited. In laparoscopic donor nephrectomy, tactile feedback to the surgeon, and thereby relatively easy discrimination of vessels by pulsatile movement, is lost. Therefore, especially for laparoscopy, preoperative planning has become increasingly important. The anatomy of the renal arteries must be visualized, as the presence of multiple arteries has been associated with increased complexity for removal and an increased rate of ureteral complications in the recipient (25). Traditionally, the renal anatomy was assessed by angiography with good results but significant consequences for the donor, including radiation and a short stay in the hospital. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT) have both been reported as feasible alternatives (26-33). In our hospital, MRI has gradually replaced angiography as this technique does not cause radiation and, in addition, provides information on the venous anatomy (34). CT may help to determine renal split function (35).

Live kidney donors are healthy individuals who deserve the least invasive and the least time consuming imaging with the best predictive value. At present, none of the techniques encompasses all the features outlined. However, imaging with CT and MRI is less invasive than angiography, provides information on venous anatomy and the renal parenchyma, and does not require observation of the live donor in the hospital for several hours after the procedure. Further development of these techniques will contribute to selection and surgical planning.

# 5.3. Improvements in surgical technique 5.3.1. Laparoscopic donor nephrectomy

Traditionally, kidneys were harvested by a 15 to 25 cm flank incision that transected three layers of abdominal muscles. Resection of ribs was frequently applied to allow sufficient access to the kidney. This procedure injured the abdominal wall resulting in substantial postoperative pain, an average hospital stay of 7 days and prolonged sick leave. In the long term, some donors suffered from chronic neuralgia and incisional hernias (36).

Fortunately, renewed interest in live kidney donation occurred in an era in which minimally invasive surgery was gradually replacing conventional surgery. In 1995, Ratner and colleagues performed the first laparoscopic donor nephrectomy (37). Various alternatives to this laparoscopic approach have been presented since, including hand-assisted laparoscopic donor nephrectomy and retroperitoneoscopic donor nephrectomy. Meanwhile, the classic open approach has been refined and minimally invasive principles are more often applied in open surgery. As described above Ratner and colleagues introduced a laparoscopic technique for live kidney donation in 1995. He used a midline incision to harvest the

References	erences 71		72		44		42		43	
	Open	Lap (hand- assisted)	Open	Lap (hand- assisted)	Open	Lap	Open (MIDN)	Lap	Open (MIDN)	Lap
Number of patients	27	23	100	100	59	63	50	50	20	20
Operative time (minutes)	125 <sup>1</sup>	206	152 <sup>1</sup>	271	140 <sup>1</sup>	180	164 <sup>1</sup>	221	147 <sup>1</sup>	232
Warm ischemia time (minutes)	1.6 <sup>1</sup>	3.1	1.81	8.7	1.41	4.3	31	6	21	4
Conversion	-	0	-	1	-	1	-	0	-	0
Hospital stay (days)	2.6 <sup>1</sup>	1.7	2.2	2.6	6.7	6.2	4 <sup>1</sup>	3	6 <sup>1</sup>	4.4
Back to normal daily activities	Longer <sup>1</sup>	Shorter	Longer <sup>1</sup>	Shorter	Longer <sup>1</sup>	Shorter	Longer <sup>1</sup>	Shorter	Longer	Shorter
Complications (minor)	4	4	27	21	4	7	6	8	7	8
Complications (major)	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0

 Table 1. Randomized controlled trials comparing open and laparoscopic donor nephrectomy

 $^{T}$  = p-value less than 0.05

kidney transplant, instead of the Pfannenstiel incision we use nowadays (37). The donor is in a lateral decubitus position. The first trocar is inserted periumbilically. The abdomen is insufflated with CO<sub>2</sub>, a 30 degrees video-endoscope is introduced and three to four additional trocars are inserted (Figure 1). The right or left hemicolon is dissected from the lateral abdominal wall and mobilized medially. Gravity aids this mobilization. The kidney is located behind the hepatic or splenic flexure. The fascia of Gerota is opened and the kidney is dissected from the surrounding capsule. The renal vessels are dissected and encircled with vessel loops to facilitate identification from different directions. The venous branches of the renal vein are clipped and divided with scissors. The ureter is dissected until it crosses the gonadal vein. Then, a 5 to 8 cm horizontal suprapubic incision or Pfannenstiel incision is made as extraction site while maintaining pneumoperitoneum. An endobag is introduced via a small incision in the peritoneum. Subsequently, the ureter is clipped and divided with scissors and the renal artery and vein are divided with an endostapler. The kidney is caught with the endobag and extracted via Pfannenstiel incision. Then, the transplant is cooled down by perfusing it with a preservation solution at 4 degrees centigrade and stored on ice. This step is similar in all the techniques. The Pfannenstiel incision is sutured once the pneumoperitoneum is restored. The peritoneal cavity is checked for bleeding; the remnants of the renal vessels and the adrenal gland in particular are checked. After haemostasis is ensured, the trocars are removed under vision and the incisions are sutured.

The introduction of this technique has given rise to much discussion in the transplant society because the pneumoperitoneum, necessary to obtain vision, leads to an increased intra-abdominal pressure and thereby may affect renal perfusion with subsequent ischemia/reperfusion injury to the transplant. Recovery of transplant function would be delayed as indicated by slower declining recipient serum creatinine (38).

Subsequently, various studies have proven that there are no clinical short-term adverse effects of laparoscopic donor nephrectomy on transplant function. However, these studies either did not continuously assess renal function during the first weeks or did not adjust serum creatinine values for possible confounders at baseline (39-41). Adjusting the fluid regimen of the donor anticipates potentially adverse effects of increased pressure and decreased perfusion (40).

Three prospective studies, comparing open with laparoscopic donor nephrectomy are listed in Table 1 (42-44). Several cohort studies from large volume centers in the United States have proven the feasibility and safety of the laparoscopic technique (45, 46). Leventhal *et al* reported a group of 500 patients with an overall rate of intra- and postoperative complications of respectively 2.8% and 3.4%. There were 9 conversions (1.8%), of which 6 were in the first 100 cases. Thirty patients experienced an intraoperative or procedure-related complication (6.0%). Only 1 recipient experienced delayed graft function, and only 1 recipient had a urological complication.

The laparoscopic live donor nephrectomy is technically more demanding than the open approach, with a prolonged learning curve (47, 48). Therefore the introduction of the laparoscopic method in small centers can be difficult.

### 5.3.2. Hand-assisted laparoscopic donor nephrectomy

Hand-assistance during laparoscopic donor nephrectomy requires an extraction incision that is little larger than the aforementioned extraction site for total laparoscopic donor nephrectomy. This allows one hand of the surgeon to enter the peritoneal cavity via a hand port. These hand ports allow introduction of, manipulation by, and removal of the hand of the surgeon while maintaining pneumoperitoneum. Some surgeons make a midline incision to place their hand port in an ergonomic position. The introduction of various trocars is similar to the conventional laparoscopic approach. Advantages of this technique include maintaining tactile sensation, the possibility to present tissues and the creation of surgical planes with the hand. In case of bleeding, it is easier to directly stop the bleeding manually and repair the injury. This technique contributes to a steeper learning curve for the hand-assisted method compared to the total laparoscopic approach (49). Potential disadvantages are higher costs because of the hand port, a worse ergonomic position of the surgeon during operation, a higher rate of wound infections and increased traumatic injury to the



**Figure 1.** Laparoscopic donor nephrectomy. A camera is introduced periumbilically (purple port). Three to four trocars are inserted.



Figure 2. Hand-assisted retroperitoneoscopic donor nephrectomy. The surgeon creates the retroperitoneal space with his left hand. Thereafter, the trocars are introduced and the retroperitoneal cavity is insufflated.

transplant as a consequence of manipulation. Literature on the pros and cons of either technique is scarce and inconclusive. Bargman and co-workers compared laparoscopic donor nephrectomy with and without hand-assistance (50). They found a statistically significant difference in the mean operative time for the two groups (200 +/- 20.8 minutes for Standard Laparoscopy vs. 219 +/- 28.3 minutes for Hand-Assisted Laparoscopy; P = 0.02). No differences were observed regarding mean estimated blood loss, warm ischemia time, length of postoperative hospital stay, intravenous analgesia or pain score on postoperative day 1 and 2. Five minor complications in the laparoscopy group and three in the hand-assisted group occurred. The mean preoperative, 1-month, and 3month postoperative QoL scores did not differ significantly between the groups. None of the recipients required postoperative dialysis, and there was no statistical difference between the two groups in serum creatinine concentration. The authors concluded that laparoscopic and hand-assisted donor nephrectomies have similar outcomes and postoperative pain, minimal complication rates and similar impact on quality of life.

### 5.3.3. Retroperitoneoscopic donor nephrectomy

Retroperitoneoscopic donor nephrectomy is a modification of the technique first described by Ratner.

In this technique the peritoneal cavity is not opened. The technique has been described with and without handassistance (51, 52). The retroperitoneal space is developed and insufflated with CO<sub>2</sub>. Several trocars are introduced (Figure 2). The peritoneal sac containing the bowel is mobilized medially. The dissection of the kidney and the renal vessels is similar to transperitoneal donor nephrectomy but the angle is different. The kidney is extracted via a muscle-splitting flank incision or a Pfannenstiel incision (51-54). The discussion to use or not to use hand-assistance is similar to the discussion about hand-assistance during the transperitoneal approach. Appropriately designed studies on this topic are lacking and the evidence is based on expert The opinions. potential advantage of the retroperitoneoscopic technique is that the peritoneum is not opened; also the descending colon and the splenocolic ligament are left intact, thereby avoiding injuries to these organs. Moreover, the angle at which the vessels are dissected may be preferable (51). The hand-assisted technique is claimed to offer advantages in the management of severe bleeding (49, 55, 56).

Wadstrom concluded from his first 75 cases that the retroperitoneoscopic hand-assisted method facilitates the procedure by enabling short operation times and significantly reducing the risks associated with endoscopic live donor nephrectomy (52). Bachman *et al.* concluded that retroperitoneoscopic donor nephrectomy provides comparable perioperative features, such as operation time, warm ischemia time and overall complication rate compared with open donor nephrectomy. Additionally, it does not have a negative impact on operation time of the recipient, graft ischemia and early graft function (53).

No large case series or comparative cohort studies have been published to date. In the future, the value of retroperitoneoscopic donor nephrectomy alongside the transperitoneal approaches has to be assessed. Preferably the primary endpoint should be the quality of life, with the time of the operation and complications as secondary endpoints.

#### 5.3.4. Minimally invasive open donor nephrectomy

The introduction of laparoscopic approaches has also encouraged refinement of open approaches. Many centers have banned rib resections, replaced classic flank incisions by incisions at other, alternative sites, and currently apply principles of minimally invasive surgery including minimal tissue damage and limited access. These incisions have in common that the incision is located anterior and more medial compared to classic open incisions; the size of the incision is also smaller.

A minimal flank incision most closely correlates to the conventional flank incision. The retroperitoneal cavity is accessed with a smaller incision, varying from 7 cm in lean donors to 15 cm in obese individuals. The oblique and transverse abdominal muscles can be either divided or split. Mechanical retractors allow sufficient access with minimal skin incision. In addition, instruments also used in laparoscopic surgery, including endostaplers, may be used to maintain limited access in case of difficult anatomy i.e. multiple renal vessels. Most Dutch surgeons and urologists use the muscle-split approach when open donor nephrectomy is performed. Because the surgical trauma is limited, these operations result in a shorter



**Figure 3.** Mini-incision open donor nephrectomy. The incision measures less than ten centimeters (indicated by the ruler) and in erect position, the scar will lie in the natural shade of the costal margin.

hospital stay and less pain compared to conventional open surgery (41). Cosmetic outcome is excellent (Figure 3).

A similar muscle-split approach can be performed in an even more anterior position. This approach may be more difficult initially, because more organs are located between the abdominal muscles and the kidney, but the approach of the renal vessels is potentially easier. A concomitant advantage is that the intercostal nerves that innervate the oblique abdominal muscles are less likely to be injured and abdominal wall function may be superior.

A third option for minimally invasive open donor nephrectomy is a pararectal vertical skinincision. This incision does not divide muscles but fascia only. This technique leads to superior postoperative results compared to conventional open approaches (57). The technique has only been compared to the classical open approach; there are no reports in which the technique is compared to laparoscopy or another type of mini incision donor nephrectomy (MIDN).

# 5.3.5. Evidence-based approach in the surgical management

Evidence has mounted that laparoscopic and retroperitoneoscopic approaches are superior to open surgery (58). Two European studies have been published; one from Great Britain and one from the Netherlands (42, 43). These prospective studies aimed to assess the superiority of either the laparoscopic or the minimally invasive open approach (MIDN) (Table 1). Kok *et al.* concluded that laparoscopic donor nephrectomy results in a better quality of life compared with mini-incision open donor nephrectomy with equal safety and graft function.

A comparative study between laparoscopic and traditional open donor nephrectomy by Oyen *et al.* from Norway randomized 122 live kidney donors (56). A relatively high complication rate in the laparoscopic group (including various re-operations) and minor differences with regard to postoperative pain, resulted in the cautious conclusion that the laparoscopic approach confers advantages in some donors only, but should not be applied to all donors. The authors suggested limiting laparoscopy to donors of normal weight or mildly overweight only, as complications mainly appeared in obese donors. Longer follow-up of the same Norwegian group confirmed a shorter recovery phase after laparoscopy (59). Various non-randomized studies have led to similar conclusions (60-70). Most of these studies were aimed at the safety and feasibility of the laparoscopic approach and presented laparoscopic donor nephrectomy as an alternative rather than as the preferred technique.

Only two randomized controlled trials comparing hand-assisted laparoscopic and conventional open techniques have been published (71, 72). Both studies compared left-sided hand-assisted laparoscopic donor nephrectomy with conventional open donor nephrectomy (Table 1). In the United States, Wolf et al. randomized 50 donors to either hand-assisted laparoscopic donor nephrectomy or conventional lumbotomy (72). Inclusion criteria included normal weight and interest in the laparoscopic approach. The main conclusion of the authors was that the hand-assisted approach resulted in shorter hospital stays and earlier recovery. Simforoosh et al. performed a comparable study in Iran (71). Donors with overweight (more than 28 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and complex renal anatomy were excluded. The donors in this study were relatively young. Again, the hand-assisted laparoscopic approach appeared favorable. The unacceptably high complication rate in the open group (n=100), including 18 donors who sustained a pneumothorax, in this study was remarkable.

Currently, the literature does not provide enough evidence whether or not to use hand-assistance at some stage during laparoscopic donor nephrectomy. About half of the surgeons perform hand-assisted laparoscopic donor nephrectomy. In our aforementioned study we compared open surgery with total laparoscopic surgery, because at that time we did not see the possible benefits of handassistance (42). Other authors clearly had this experience (72). A total laparoscopic approach may be even less invasive, but hand-assisted donor nephrectomy may confer benefits such as shorter operation times (71, 73). A comparative study of hand-assisted and total laparoscopic donor nephrectomy is difficult to organize. To assess potential interesting differences in a superiority study, such as the rate of conversion and wound infections, hundreds of donors must be enrolled. Only non-inferiority studies are feasible. Comparative studies assessing the role of (handassisted) retroperitoneoscopic kidney donation alongside laparoscopic kidney donation are warranted.

### 5.4. Improvements in perioperative care

Two factors in live kidney donation may be influenced by improvements in perioperative care. These include postoperative pain and nausea and postoperative donor and recipient creatinine clearance. At our center we currently analyze the role of preoperative infusion of fluids to maintain adequate perfusion of the kidneys of the donor during laparoscopic donor nephrectomy.

For other surgical procedures, epidural anesthesia/analgesia has been reported to significantly reduce perioperative morbidity including ileus, acute renal failure (approximately 30%) and blood loss (approximately 30%), and not only improved analgesic efficacy but also reduced opioid demand and side-effects such as nausea,

vomiting and sedation (74-77). The use of thoracic epidural analgesia (TEA) for laparoscopic procedures is becoming more common, especially with colon surgery, where TEA significantly improved early analgesia and had a significant, favorable impact on dietary tolerance and length of stay (77-79). To date, reports describing the effect of epidural analgesia during laparoscopic donor nephrectomy on postoperative pain and nausea have not been published to our knowledge.

Delayed graft function and slower initial graft function have been associated with a higher incidence of acute rejection and have been reported in the past to occur more frequently after laparoscopic donor nephrectomy (80-82). Most studies comparing laparoscopic and open donor nephrectomy observed higher serum creatinine values in recipients of laparoscopically procured kidneys in the first days to weeks following renal transplantation (38, 40, 61, 82-84). As mentioned earlier, studies that reported no differences did often not continuously assess renal function during the first weeks or did not adjust serum creatinine values for possible confounders at baseline (39, 71). Proposed mechanisms resulting in slower recovery of graft function after LDN included mechanical injury to the graft, longer operation time until nephrectomy, longer first warm ischemia time and increased abdominal pressure due to the pneumoperitoneum leading to decreased cardiac output and decreased renal blood flow (40, 85). The predictive value of these findings on graft survival remains unclear as the mean half life of a graft procured from a live donor is much longer than the time elapsed since the first laparoscopic donor nephrectomy by Ratner in 1995 (37).

Retrospective studies at our institution showed that higher recipient serum creatinine values remained present in spite of administration of a sufficient amount of intra-operative fluids (40, 83). Therefore, we hypothesized that not only intraoperative fluid management is important, but also prehydration. An adequate prehydration regimen may indeed improve donor and recipient creatinine clearance. In contrast to earlier findings, kidney function of the donor and recipient is comparable between open and laparoscopic donor nephrectomy after introduction of a fluid regimen with prehydration (86).

# 5.5. Improvements in follow-up

Fatigue and diminished quality of life may be present until one year after the donation (42, 87, 88). There is a subgroup of donors that does not return to preoperative values. Further studies to characterize these donors are warranted.

Regular follow-up may help donors who do not recover well and donors who have conflicts with their employers with regard to resumption of work. Incidentally we encounter disturbed relationships between donor and recipient. These are recognized early. Professional aid can then be offered if necessary. In our opinion, the transplant community and governmental organizations are obliged to provide help to struggling donors, because they have significantly benefited society.

Expansion of unrelated donation other than spousal donation and non-directed donation may increase the number of disappointed live donors, as the personal advantages for the donor are usually smaller with these types of donation. Further follow-up of these groups of donors in particular is required.

With regard to medical follow-up, donors may be monitored cautiously for hypertension and proteinuria as an expression of renal disease. Although individuals with one kidney do not appear to have an increased chance to develop renal insufficiency, they have a reduced functional reserve. Although most kidney diseases will affect both kidneys, early recognition of deteriorating kidney function may be beneficial in preventing end-stage renal disease and may also be considered a minimal service of society to our kidney donors (58, 89, 90). Follow up of the donors is also needed in order to gather more data regarding the long-term consequences of kidney donation. At our institution we schedule follow-up visits at the nephrology and surgery outpatient clinics at one, three and twelve months and annually thereafter.

### 6. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Live kidney donor transplantation may develop as the most important live-saving procedure and the treatment that offers the best quality of life for patients with renal insufficiency. Further expansion of non-directed kidney donation and renal transplantation across blood group barriers will help those recipients with an incompatible blood group. An increase in pre-emptive transplantation may improve results of renal transplantation and reduce the costs of dialysis. Laparoscopic donor nephrectomy may be applied in the majority of donors and offers the best outcome to the donor with regard to quality of life. Future directions include addressing the position of the retroperitoneoscopic approach, long term outcomes of live kidney donors, in particular hypertensive, older and obese donors, and increasing the number of live kidney donors without compromising safety to the donor or the graft.

### 7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors equally contributed to this article.

# 8. REFERENCES

1. Connie L. Davis and Francis L. Delmonico: Living-Donor Kidney Transplantation: A Review of the Current Practices for the Live Donor. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 16(7), 2098-2110 (2005)

2. Giulio R. Innocenti, Hani M. Wadei, Mikel Prieto, Patrick G. Dean, Eduardo J. Ramos, Stephen Textor, Hasan Khamash, Timothy S. Larson, Fernando Cosio, Kay Kosberg, Lynette Fix, Charise Bauer and Mark D. Stegall: Preemptive living donor kidney transplantation: do the benefits extend to all recipients? *Transplantation*, 83(2), 144-9 (2007)

3. Walter R. Guild, J. H. Harrison, J. P. Merrill and J. Murray: Successful homotransplantation of the kidney in

an identical twin. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc, 67, 167-73 (1955)

4. Rene Kuss, J. Teinturier and P. Milliez: [Some attempts at kidney transplantation in man.]. *Mem Acad Chir (Paris)*, 77(22-23-24), 755-64 (1951)

5. http://www.transplantatiestichting.nl

6. Niels F. Kok, Willem Weimar, Ian P. Alwayn and Jan N. Ijzermans: The current practice of live donor nephrectomy in europe. *Transplantation*, 82(7), 892-7 (2006)

7. Norberto Perico, Dario Cattaneo, Mohamed H Sayegh and Giuseppe Remuzzi: Delayed graft function in kidney transplantation. *Lancet*, 364(9447), 1814-27 (2004)

8. Atul Humar, T. Ramcharan, R. Kandaswamy, K. Gillingham, W. D. Payne and A. J. Matas: Risk factors for slow graft function after kidney transplants: a multivariate analysis. *Clin Transplant*, 16(6), 425-9 (2002)

9. Arthur J. Matas, William D. Payne, David E. R. Sutherland, Abhi Humar, Rainer W. G. Gruessner, Raja Kandaswamy, David L. Dunn, Kristen J. Gillingham and John S. Najarian: 2,500 living donor kidney transplants: a single-center experience. *Ann Surg*, 234(2), 149-64 (2001)

10. www.unos.org: In,

11. Paul I. Terasaki, J. Michael Cecka, David W. Gjertson and Steven Takemoto: High Survival Rates of Kidney Transplants from Spousal and Living Unrelated Donors. *N Engl J Med*, 333(6), 333-336 (1995)

12. http://www.eurotransplant.nl

13. Marry de Klerk, Karin M. Keizer, Frans H. J. Claas, Marian Witvliet, Bernadette J. J. M. Haase-Kromwijk and Willem Weimar: The Dutch National Living Donor Kidney Exchange Program. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 5(9), 2302-2305 (2005)

14. Paul E. Morrissey, Catherine Dube, Reginald Gohh, Angelito Yango, Amitabh Gautam and Anthony P. Monaco: Good samaritan kidney donation. *Transplantation*, 80(10), 1369-73 (2005)

15. Marry de Klerk, Marian D. Witvliet, Bernadette J. Haase-Kromwijk, Frans H. Claas and Willem Weimar: A highly efficient living donor kidney exchange program for both blood type and crossmatch incompatible donor-recipient combinations. *Transplantation*, 82(12), 1616-20 (2006)

16. Alvin E. Roth, Tayfun Sonmez, M. Utku Unver, Francis L. Delmonico and Susan L. Saidman: Utilizing list exchange and nondirected donation through chain paired kidney donations. *Am J Transplant*, 6(11), 2694-705 (2006) 17. Amy D. Waterman, E. A. Schenk, Andrew C. Barrett, Brian M. Waterman, James R. Rodrigue, E. Steve Woodle, Surendra Shenoy, Martin Jendrisak and Margareth Schnitzler: Incompatible kidney donor candidates willingness to participate in donor-exchange and nondirected donation. *Am J Transplant*, 6(7), 1631-8 (2006)

18. Hideki Ishida, N. Miyamoto, H. Shirakawa, T. Shimizu, T. Tokumoto, N. Ishikawa, H. Shimmura, K. Setoguchi, D. Toki, S. Iida, S. Teraoka, K. Takahashi, H. Toma, Y. Yamaguchi and K. Tanabe: Evaluation of Immunosuppressive Regimens in ABO-Incompatible Living Kidney Transplantation-Single Center Analysis. *Am J Transplant* (2007)

19. Gunnela Norden, David Briggs, I Paul Cockwel, Graham Lipkin, Lars Mjörnstedt, Johan Mölne, Andrew Ready, Lennart Rydberg, Ola Samuelsson, Christian T. Svalander and Michael E. Breimer: ABO-incompatible live donor renal transplantation using blood group A/B carbohydrate antigen immunoadsorption and anti-CD20 antibody treatment. *Xenotransplantation*, 13(2), 148-153 (2006)

20. Francis L. Delmonico: A Report of the Amsterdam Forum On the Care of the Live Kidney Donor: Data and Medical Guidelines. *Transplantation*, 79(6 Suppl), S53-66 (2005)

21. Thai Nguyen, Miguel Vazquez and Robert Toto: Living kidney donation and hypertension risk. *The Lancet*, 369(9556), 87

22. Shazia Choudhry, A. S. Daar, J. Radcliffe Richards, R. D. Guttmann, R. Hoffenberg, M. Lock, R. A. Sells and N. Tilney: Unrelated living organ donation: ULTRA needs to go. *J Med Ethics*, 29(3), 169-70 (2003)

23. David Z. Levine: Kidney vending: "Yes!" or "No!" *Am J Kidney Dis*, 35(5), 1002-18 (2000)

24. Mehmet Sever: Living unrelated—commercial—kidney transplantation: when there is no chance to survive. *Pediatric Nephrology*, 21(10), 1352 (2006)

25. Jonathan T. Carter, Chris E. Freise, Ryan A. McTaggart, Harish D. Mahanty, Sang-Mo Kang, Sharon H. Chan, Sandy Feng, John P. Roberts and Andrew M. Posselt: Laparoscopic Procurement of Kidneys with Multiple Renal Arteries is Associated with Increased Ureteral Complications in the Recipient. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 5(6), 1312-1318 (2005)

26. Scott A. Ames, Marina Krol, Kartik Nettar, Jeffrey P. Goldman, Theresa M. Quinn, Daniel M. Herron, Alfons Pomp and Jonathan S. Bromberg: Pre-donation Assessment of Kidneys by Magnetic Resonance Angiography and Venography: Accuracy and Impact on Outcomes. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 5(6), 1518-1528 (2005)

27. Hazem A. El Fettouh, Brian R. Herts, Toni Nimeh, Susan L. Wirth, Audrey Caplin, Mark Sands, Anup P. Ramani, Jihad Kaouk, David A. Goldfarb and Inderbir S. Gill: Prospective Comparison of 3-Dimensional Volume Rendered Computerized Tomography and Conventional Renal Arteriography for Surgical Planning in Patients Undergoing Laparoscopic Donor Nephrectomy. *The Journal of urology*, 170(1), 57 (2003)

28. Tarek A. El-DIASTY, Ahmed A Shokeir, Mohamed E. El-GHAR, Hossam M. Gad, Ayman F. Refaie and Ahmed B. El-DIN: Contrast Enhanced Spiral Computerized Tomography in Live Kidney Donors: A Single Session for Anatomical and Functional Assessment. *The Journal of urology*, 171(1), 31 (2004)

29. Andrew H. Feifer, Neil E. Fleshner and Laurence Klotz: Analytical Accuracy and Reliability of Commonly Used Nutritional Supplements in Prostate Disease. *The Journal of urology*, 168(1), 150 (2002)

30. Dominic J. Hodgson, Wajanat Jan, Sheila Rankin, Geoff Koffman and Mohammad S. Khan: Magnetic resonance renal angiography and venography: an analysis of 111 consecutive scans before donor nephrectomy. *BJU International*, 97(3), 584-586 (2006)

31. Daniel M Janoff, Patrick Davol, James Hazzard, Michael J Lemmers, Darius A Paduch and John M Barry: Computerized Tomography With 3-Dimensional Reconstruction for the Evaluation of Renal Size and Arterial Anatomy in the Living Kidney Donor. *The Journal of urology*, 171(1), 27 (2004)

32. J. E. Johnson, E. J. Loveday, L. J. Archer, P. Lear and M. J. Thornton: Preoperative evaluation of live renal donors using multislice CT angiography. *Clin Radiol*, 60(7), 771-7 (2005)

33. Dushyant V. Sahani, Neeraj Rastogi, Alan C. Greenfield, Sanjeeva P. Kalva, Dicken Ko, Sanjay Saini, Gordon Harris and Peter R. Mueller: Multi-Detector Row CT in Evaluation of 94 Living Renal Donors by Readers with Varied Experience. *Radiology*, 235(3), 905-910 (2005)

34. Shahid M. Hussain, Marc C. J. M. Kock, Jan N. M. Ijzermans, Peter M. T. Pattynama, M. G. Myriam Hunink and Gabriel P. Krestin: MR Imaging: A "One-Stop Shop" Modality for Preoperative Evaluation of Potential Living Kidney Donors. *Radiographics*, 23(2), 505-520 (2003)

35. Henrik. Bjorkman, H. Eklof, J. Wadstrom, L. G. Andersson, R. Nyman and A. Magnusson: Split renal function in patients with suspected renal artery stenosis: a comparison between gamma camera renography and two methods of measurement with computed tomography. *Acta Radiol*, 47(1), 107-13 (2006)

36. Niels F. Kok, Ian P. Alwayn, Olaf Schouten, Khe T. Tran, Willem Weimar and Jan N. Ijzermans: Miniincision open donor nephrectomy as an alternative to classic lumbotomy: evolution of the open approach. *Transpl Int*, 19(6), 500-5 (2006)

37. Lloyd E. Ratner, L. J. Ciseck, R. G. Moore, Francisco G. Cigarroa, Howard S. Kaufman and Louis R. Kavoussi: Laparoscopic live donor nephrectomy. *Transplantation*, 60(9), 1047-9 (1995) 38. Joseph M. Nogueira, Charles B. Cangro, Jeffrey C. Fink, Eugene E Schweitzer, Anne Wiland, David K. Klassen, Jim Gardner, John Flowers, Stephen Jacobs, Eugene Cho, Benjamin Philosophe, Stephen T. Bartlett and Matthew R. Weir: A comparison of recipient renal outcomes with laparoscopic versus open live donor nephrectomy. *Transplantation*, 67(5), 722-8 (1999)

39. Ithaar H. Derweesh, David A. Goldfarb, Sidney C. Abreu, Mahesh Goel, Stuart M. Flechner, Charles Modlin, Lingmei Zhou, Stevan B. Streem, Andrew C. Novick and Inderbir S. Gill: Laparoscopic live donor nephrectomy has equivalent early and late renal function outcomes compared with open donor nephrectomy. *Urology*, 65(5), 862 (2005)

40. Eric J. Hazebroek, Diederik Gommers, Michiel A. Schreve, Teun van Gelder, Joke I. Roodnat, Willem Weimar, H. Jaap Bonjer and Jan N. M. IJzermans: Impact of intraoperative donor management on short-term renal function after laparoscopic donor nephrectomy. *Ann Surg*, 236(1), 127-32 (2002)

41. Niels F. Kok, Ian P. Alwayn, May Y. Lind, Khe T. Tran, Willem Weimar and Jan N IJzermans: Donor nephrectomy: mini-incision muscle-splitting open approach versus laparoscopy. *Transplantation*, 81(6), 881-7 (2006)

42. Niels F. Kok, May Y. Lind, Birgitta M. Hansson, Desiree Pilzecker, Ingrid R. Mertens zur Borg, Ben C. Knipscheer, Eric J. Hazebroek, Ine M. Dooper, Willem Weimar, Wim C. Hop, Eddy M. Adang, Gert-jan van der Wilt, Hendrik. J Bonjer, Jordanus A. van der Vliet and Jan N IJzermans: Comparison of laparoscopic and mini incision open donor nephrectomy: single blind, randomised controlled clinical trial. *Bmj*, 333(7561), 221 (2006)

43. Gareth R. Lewis, Nicolas R. Brook, Julian R. Waller, J. C. Bains, Peter S. Veitch and Michael L. Nicholson: A comparison of traditional open, minimal-incision donor nephrectomy and laparoscopic donor nephrectomy. *Transpl Int*, 17(10), 589-95 (2004)

44. Ole Oyen, Marit Andersen, Lars Mathisen, Gunnvald Kvarstein, Bjorn Edwin, Pal-Dag Line, Tim Scholz and Per Pfeffer: Laparoscopic versus open living-donor nephrectomy: experiences from a prospective, randomized, single-center study focusing on donor safety. *Transplantation*, 79(9), 1236-40 (2005)

45. J. R. Leventhal, B. Kocak, P. R. Salvalaggio, A. J. Koffron, T. B. Baker, D. B. Kaufman, J. P. Fryer, M. M. Abecassis and F. P. Stuart: Laparoscopic donor nephrectomy 1997 to 2003: lessons learned with 500 cases at a single institution. *Surgery*, 136(4), 881-90 (2004)

46. Marc L. Melcher, Jonathan T. Carter, Andrew Posselt, Quan-Yang Duh, Marshall Stoller, Chris E. Freise and Sang-Mo Kang: More Than 500 Consecutive Laparoscopic Donor Nephrectomies Without Conversion or Repeated Surgery. *Arch Surg*, 140(9), 835-840 (2005)

47. George L. Martin, Amy I. Guise, Jonathan E. Bernie, Vladislav Bargman, William Goggins and Chandru P. Sundaram: Laparoscopic donor nephrectomy: effects of learning curve on surgical outcomes. *Transplant Proc*, 39(1), 27-9 (2007) 48. Li-Ming Su, Lloyd E. Ratner, Robert A. Montgomery, Thomas W. Jarrett, Bruce J. Trock, Vladimir Sinkov, Rachel Bluebond-Langner and Louis R. Kavoussi: Laparoscopic live donor nephrectomy: trends in donor and recipient morbidity following 381 consecutive cases. *Ann Surg*, 240(2), 358-63 (2004)

49. Stefan Maartense, Mirza Idu, Frederike J. Bemelman, Ron Balm, Susanto Surachno and Willem A. Bemelman: Hand-assisted laparoscopic live donor nephrectomy. *Br J Surg*, 91(3), 344-8 (2004)

50. Vladislav Bargman, Chandru P. Sundaram, Jonathan Bernie and William Goggins: Third Prize: Randomized Trial of Laparoscopic Donor Nephrectomy with and without Hand Assistance. *Journal of Endourology*, 20(10), 717-722 (2006)

51. Kazunari Tanabe, Miyamoto Naoshi, Hideki Ishida, Tadahiko Tokumoto, Hiroki Shirakawa, Hirofumi Yamamoto, Tsunenori Kondo, Hisashi Okuda, Hiroaki Shimmura, Nobuo Ishikawa, Taiji Nozaki and Hiroshi Toma: Retroperitoneoscopic Live Donor Nephrectomy (RPLDN): Establishment and Initial Experience of RPLDN at a Single Center. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 5(4), 739-745 (2005)

52. Jonas Wadstrom: Hand-assisted retroperitoneoscopic live donor nephrectomy: experience from the first 75 consecutive cases. *Transplantation*, 80(8), 1060-6 (2005)

53. Alexander Bachmann, Thomas Wolff, Robin Ruszat, Olivier Giannini, Michael Dickenmann, Lorenz Gürke, Jürg Steiger, Thomas C. Gasser, Christian G. Stief and Tullio Sulser: Retroperitoneoscopic Donor Nephrectomy: A Retrospective, Non-Randomized Comparison of Early Complications, Donor and Recipient Outcome with the Standard Open Approach. *European Urology*, 48(1), 90 (2005)

54. Henrik. Gjertsen, A. K. Sandberg, J. Wadstrom, G. Tyden and B. G. Ericzon: Introduction of hand-assisted retroperitoneoscopic living donor nephrectomy at Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge. *Transplant Proc*, 38(8), 2644-5 (2006)

55. Stefan Maartense, R. J. Heintjes, Mirza Idu, Frederike J. Bemelman and Willem A. Bemelman: Renal artery clip dislodgement during hand-assisted laparoscopic living donor nephrectomy. *Surg Endosc*, 17(11), 1851 (2003)

56. Ole Oyen, Pal-Dag Line, Per Pfeffer, Bjorn Edwin, P. F. Jorgensen, Aksel Foss, Bjoern Lien, Oystein Bentdal, Bo Husberg and Inge B. Brekke: Laparoscopic living donor nephrectomy: introduction of simple handassisted technique (without handport). *Transplant Proc*, 35(2), 779-81 (2003)

57. Michael Neipp, Steffan Jackobs, Thomas Becker, Andreas M. zu Vilsendorf, Markus Winny, Rainer Lueck, Juergen Klempnauer and Bjorn Nashan: Living donor nephrectomy: flank incision versus anterior vertical mini-incision. *Transplantation*, 78(9), 1356-61 (2004) 58. Rebecca Tooher, Mohan Rao, David F. Scott, Daryll R Wall, David M. Francis, Franklin H. Bridgewater and Guy J. Maddern: A systematic review of laparoscopic live-donor nephrectomy. *Transplantation*, 78(3), 404-14 (2004)

59. M. H. Andersen, L. Mathisen, O. Oyen, B. Edwin, R. Digernes, G. Kvarstein, T. I. Tonnessen, A. K. Wahl, B. R. Hanestad and E. Fosse: Postoperative pain and convalescence in living kidney donors-laparoscopic versus open donor nephrectomy: a randomized study. *Am J Transplant*, 6(6), 1438-43 (2006)

60. Joseph F. Buell, Michael J. Hanaway, Steven R. Potter, David C. Cronin, Atsushi Yoshida, Rino Munda, J. Wesley Alexander, Kenneth A. Newell, David S. Bruce and E. Steve Woodle: Hand-Assisted Laparoscopic Living-Donor Nephrectomy as an Alternative to Traditional Laparoscopic Living-Donor Nephrectomy. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 2(10), 983-988 (2002)

61. John L. Flowers, Stephen Jacobs, Eugene Cho, Andrew Morton, William F. Rosenberger, Deborah Evans, Anthony L. Imbembo and Stephen T. Bartlett: Comparison of open and laparoscopic live donor nephrectomy. *Ann Surg*, 226(4), 483-9; discussion 489-90 (1997)

62. Abdelkader Hawasli, A. Boutt, G. Cousins, E. Schervish and H. Oh: Laparoscopic versus conventional live donor nephrectomy: experience in a community transplant program. *Am Surg*, 67(4), 342-5 (2001)

63. Anant Kumar, Deepak Dubey, Sanjay Gogoi and Nand K. Arvind: Laparoscopy-assisted live donor nephrectomy: a modified cost-effective approach for developing countries. *J Endourol*, 16(3), 155-9 (2002)

64. Annette Lennerling, Ingemar Blohme, Oyvind Ostraat, Hans Lonroth, Michael Olausson and Gudrun Nyberg: Laparoscopic or open surgery for living donor nephrectomy. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.*, 16(2), 383-386 (2001)

65. Joseph R. Leventhal, Ramzi K. Deeik, Raymond J. Joehl, Robert V. Rege, Claude H. Herman, Jonathan P. Fryer, Dixon Kaufman, Michael Abecassis and Frank P Stuart: Laparoscopic live donor nephrectomy--is it safe? *Transplantation*, 70(4), 602-6 (2000)

66. Mathew C. Rawlins, Thomas L. Hefty, Scott L. Brown and Thomas R. Biehl: Learning Laparoscopic Donor Nephrectomy Safely: A Report on 100 Cases. *Arch Surg*, 137(5), 531-535 (2002)

67. Nassar Simforoosh, Abbas Bassiri, Seyed A. Ziaee, Ali Tabibi, Nasser S. Salim, F. Pourrezagholi, Seyed M. Moghaddam, R. Maghsoodi and H. Shafi: Laparoscopic versus open live donor nephrectomy: the first randomized clinical trial. *Transplant Proc*, 35(7), 2553-4 (2003)

68. Michael D. Stifelman, David Hull, R. Ernest Sosa, Li-Ming Su, Michael Hyman, William Stubenbord and Steven Shichman: Hand Assisted Laparoscopic Donor Nephrectomy: A Comparison With The Open APPROACH. *The Journal of urology*, 166(2), 444 (2001)

69. Ergun Velidedeoglu, Noel Williams, Kenneth L. Brayman, Niraj M. Desai, Luis Campos, Maral Palanjian,

Martin Wocjik, Roy Bloom, Robert A. Grossman, Kevin Mange, Clyde F. Barker, Ali Naji and James F. Markmann: Comparison of open, laparoscopic, and hand-assisted approaches to live-donor nephrectomy. *Transplantation*, 74(2), 169-72 (2002)

70. J. Stuart Wolf, Robert Marcovich, Robert M. Merion and John W. Konnak: PROSPECTIVE, CASE Matched Comparison Of Hand Assisted Laparoscopic And Open Surgical Live Donor Nephrectomy. *The Journal of urology*, 163(6), 1650 (2000)

71. Nasser Simforoosh, Abbas Basiri, Ali Tabibi, Nasser Shakhssalim and Seyed M. M. Hosseini Moghaddam: Comparison of laparoscopic and open donor nephrectomy: a randomized controlled trial. *BJU International*, 95(6), 851-855 (2005)

72. J. Stuart Wolf, Jr., Robert M. Merion, Alan B. Leichtman, Darrell A. Campbell, Jr., J.ohn C. Magee, Jeffrery D. Punch, Jeremiah G. Turcotte and John W. Konnak: Randomized controlled trial of hand-assisted laparoscopic versus open surgical live donor nephrectomy. *Transplantation*, 72(2), 284-90 (2001)

73. Constantinos Kokkinos, Theodore Nanidis, David Antcliffe, Antcliffe W. Darzi, Paris Tekkis and Vassilios Papalois: Comparison of laparoscopic versus hand-assisted live donor nephrectomy. *Transplantation*, 83(1), 41-7 (2007)

74. Robert J. Moraca, David G. Sheldon and Richard C. Thirlby: The role of epidural anesthesia and analgesia in surgical practice. *Ann Surg*, 238(5), 663-73 (2003)

75. Francis. Bonnet and E. Marret: Influence of anaesthetic and analgesic techniques on outcome after surgery. *Br. J. Anaesth.*, 95(1), 52-58 (2005)

76. Frederik Dunet, Ch Pfister, M. Deghmani, Y. Meunier, G. Demeilliers-Pfister and P. Grise: Clinical results of combined epidural and general anesthesia procedure in radical prostatectomy management. *Can J Urol*, 11(2), 2200-4 (2004)

77. Alf Kozian, Thomas Schilling and Thomas Hachenberg: Non-analgetic effects of thoraic epidural anaesthesia. *Curr Opin Anesthesiol*, 18, 29-34 (2005)

78. Anthony J. Senagore, David Whalley, Conor P. Delaney, Nagy Mekhail, Hans J. Duepree and Victor W. Fazio: Epidural anesthesia-analgesia shortens length of stay after laparoscopic segmental colectomy for benign pathology. *Surgery*, 129(6), 672 (2001)

79. Anthony J. Senagore, Conor P. Delaney, Nagy Mekhail, Hans J. Duepree and Victor W. Fazio: Randomized clinical trial comparing epidural anaesthesia and patient-controlled analgesia after laparoscopic segmental colectomy. *Br J Surg*, 90(10), 1195-9 (2003)

80. Todd V. Brennan, Chris E. Freise, T. Florian Fuller, Alan Bostrom, Stephen J. Tomlanovich and Sandy Feng: Early Graft Function After Living Donor Kidney Transplantation Predicts Rejection But Not Outcomes. American Journal of Transplantation, 4(6), 971-979 (2004)

81. Christoph Troppmann, Debra B. Ormond and Richard V. Perez: Laparoscopic (vs. Open) Live Donor Nephrectomy: A UNOS Database Analysis of Early Graft Function and Survival. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 3(10), 1295-1301 (2003)

82. Lloyd E. Ratner, Robert A.Montgomery, Warren R. Maley, Cynthia Cohen, James Burdick, Kenneth Chavin, Dilip Kittur, Paul Colombani, Andrew Klein, Edward S. Kraus and Louis R. Kavoussi: Laparoscopic live donor nephrectomy: the recipient. *Transplantation*, 69(11), 2319-23 (2000)

83. May. Y. Lind, Ingrid. M. Zur Borg, Eric. J. Hazebroek, Wim. C. Hop, Ian. P. Alwayn, Willem. Weimar and Jan. N. Ijzermans: The effect of laparoscopic and open donor nephrectomy on the long-term renal function in donor and recipient: a retrospective study. *Transplantation*, 80(5), 700-3 (2005)

84. Mahesh C Goel, Charles S. Modlin, A. M. Mottoo, I. H. Derweesh, S. M. Flechner, S. Streem, I. Gill, David A. Goldfarb and A. C. Novick: Fate of donor kidney: laparoscopic versus open technique. *J Urol*, 172(6 Pt 1), 2326-30 (2004)

85. Eric T. London, Hung S. Ho, Ann M. C. Neuhaus, Bruce M. Wolfe, Steven M. Rudich and Richard V. Perez: Effect of intravascular volume expansion on renal function during prolonged CO2 pneumoperitoneum. *Ann Surg*, 231(2), 195-201 (2000)

86. Ingrid R. Mertens zur Borg, Niels F. Kok, Georgo Lambrou, David Jonsson, Ian P. Alwayn, Khe T. Tran, Willem Weimar, Jan N. Ijzermans and Diederik Gommers: Beneficial effects of a new fluid regime on kidney function of donor and recipient during laparoscopic v open donor nephrectomy. *J Endourol*, 21(12), 1509-15 (2007)

87. Graeme C. Smith, Thomas Trauer, Peter G. Kerr and Steven J. Chadban: Prospective psychosocial monitoring of living kidney donors using the Short Form-36 health survey: results at 12 months. *Transplantation*, 78(9), 1384-9 (2004)

88. Niels F. Kok, Ian P. Alwayn, Khe. T. Tran, Wim C. Hop, Willem Weimar and Jan N. Ijzermans: Psychosocial and physical impairment after mini-incision open and laparoscopic donor nephrectomy: A prospective study. *Transplantation*, 82(10), 1291-7 (2006)

89. Jochen Jordan, Uli Sann, Anja Janton, Jan Gossmann, Wolfgang Kramer, Heinz G. Kachel, Albina Wilhelm and Ernst Scheuermann: Living kidney donors long-term psychological status and health behavior after nephrectomy - a retrospective study. *J Nephrol*, 17(5), 728-35 (2004)

90. Mukut Minz, Naval Udgiri, Ashish Sharma, Munish K. Heer, Randeep Kashyap, R. Nehra and V. Sakhuja: Prospective psychosocial evaluation of related kidney donors: Indian perspective. *Transplant Proc*, 37(5), 2001-3 (2005) **Key Words:** Living Donors, Quality Of Life, Minimally Invasive, Cost-Effectiveness, Laparoscopic Donor Nephrectomy, Cross-Over, ABO incompatibility, Review

Send correspondence to: Jan Nicolaas IJzermans, Department of Surgery, Erasmus MC, PO BOX 2040, 3000 CA Rotterdam, The Netherlands, Phone number: 0031-10-7033733, Fax: 0031-10-7035615, E-mail: j.ijzermans@erasmusmc.nl

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol14.htm